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NOTES TO THE EDITED VOLUMES

This is one of four municipal surveys carried out prior
to and independently of the comprehensive county-wide
survey. It was edited in August, 1987 so that all 39
municipal volumes could be issued in a single set by
the Morris County Heritage Commission. Because the
four earlier surveys were voluminious, limitations of
space and.printing budget called for reduction in
length.

It was the editor's intent to leave undisturbed all

substantive portions of the original survey volumes.
The research and conclusions of the original authors
have not been tampered with in any way.

Photocopies of survey photographs constitute the
largest single category of material removed. In
some cases this results in skipped page numbers, but
the text stands uninterrupted. Lengthy addenda

and some maps that were not clearly reproducible
were likewise omitted.

Some sections, like negative file sheets and glossaries,
were also removed. These deletions are noted. in the

table of contents for each volume. In a few unusual in-
stances survey forms were abridged by several sentences.

Readers who care to refer to the original survey vol-
umes may find copies at the following repositories:

The libraries of the four municipalities in question
The Morris County Library (829-0505)
The Office of New Jersey Heritage (609-292-2028)
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INTRODUCTION

Encouvraged by the Historic Sites Committee o0f the
Morris County Historical Society to undertake a complete survey
of the 519 examples of Chester Borough architecture, the Historic
Sites Committee of the Chester Historical Society called upon the
URWA Director, David pPeifer, who had conducted a survey that
covered parts of the Chester area. Based on his advice and
suggestions, and vusing materials supplied by New Jersey Office of
Cultural and Environmeﬁtal Services, Historic Preservation
Section, the Society embarked on the sﬁrvey project in July of
1982. '

After seqpring qpproval from the Borough Mayor and
Council, a group of Chester Historical Society mémbers recorded
all areas of the Borough on film.

The Societyfs_very successful fund Faiser, a Barn Sale
held in August, 1983, énd the slow pace at which the survey was
progressing, combined with the pressure of commercial
development, led the Society to apply for a grant-in-aid
to finance professional help.

In July of 1984 the grant fiom the U. 5. Depaitmént of
Interior, National Park Service, was awarded with notification by
letter from Governor Thomas Kean. The grant was for $2,@4d¢,
matching 50/5¢ with Society funds and volunteer-donated time.

Under tﬁe direction of the Office of New Jersey
Heritage, Department of Environmental Protection, a professional
team was hired: Robert P. Guter and Janet W. Foster, partners in

ACROTERION, Historic Preservation Consultants.




METHODOLOGY

To provide documentation and background, historical
maps and histories were consulted, including the publications of
the Chester Historical Society. They are listed in the
Bibliography.

- Field work findings by the professional team were
recorded on ONJH inventory and continuation sheets. They also
prepared mapping information and the narrative portions dealing
with History, Delineation of the Historic District, and
Preservation Planning.

Volunteers from the Society prepared the Street Index,
Negative Files and incorporated the earlier photographic
materials into the survey. Black and white photos, in excess of
800, had been taken of almost every structure on the 1982 tax
roles.

Color slides from the Chester Historical Society
collection were chosen to further illustrate the architectural
elements of the community.

Locations are noted by street address and block and lot
numbers of the Street Index and are identified by inventory
number on the tax map.

There are two sections in the inventory numbering. The
peripheral area of the Borough uses numbers @01 through 135 (with
@35 omitted); and the central, more densely developed areé, used
201 through 3@9.

Construction dates are given where known from deed

research. Appearance on Historic Maps and local histories



METHODOLOGY continuved

provide additional clues. Where conjectured, they are based on
examination of the exterior of the structure.

Physical condition does not refer to architectural
integrity. Several fine architectural speciments are in
deteriorating condition.

"Part of a District" refers toAtherrecommended Historic
District and thé structure contributes in some way to that group.
It is culturally important to the community without necessarily
having great architectural value or historical association.

"Thematic nomination" refers to buildings with similar
architectural styles, not necessarily contiguous.

Buildings given a statement of significance and full

description were deemed locally important.
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Maps

The U.S. Coast and Geodetic Survey Map, USG5 - (Chester Quad)

ST
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(revised 197¢), served as the original base map, but it became

necessary to give Block and Lot numbers, so a change was made to

TRIXRTT £

the Tax Map of the Borough of Chester (1972, revised 1974). The %}ézg
only available copy was made-UP of twelve separate sheets. These %_?
.
were joined and the resulting map reduced to a more convenient E’é
size. The developea central portion of the Borough made 5

for difficulty in reading the map, so a full-scale print of that

area was made.
There is also a special map prepared by ACROTERION,

based on the tax map, showing the location of 21 mining houses

constructed during the 1ron Minihg Boom. A part of the narrative
discusses this uniguely Chester buvilding form, the "patch house."




ZHESTHER BOPOUCEH, MOPRPIS COUNTY, “.d.

Higtoric Sumvary

Chaster 2o0rough is located in southwest “Morris Zountv,
Vew Jersey, in an area of wooded rollinghills. The Borough is a
1.52 scauare mile community encircled by Chester Townshin (with
29,68 sguare miles).

From 1729, when it was set off from Boxbury, to 1¢37,
when the Borough was incorporata2d, "Chester" meant all of
nresent-cday townshin and its village center, now the heart of the
Zorough.,

Chester was first surveyed and mapped 1in 1713 hv
proprietors for the provinces of Rast and West Jersey. The
Lawrence line, dividing Fast and West Jersey in colonial times,
went directly through Chester. The early name "hlack River" is
still carrieﬁ‘gy the tributary of the Raritan whicﬁ flows through
Chester Township., After 1731, settlers began arrivina in the
area, primarily farmers relocating from Long Island. Their
numbers included Presbyterians and Congregationalists, 2nd their
simnrle community grew up around church, farm, and tavern.

The oldest roads in Chester were the Landing Rocaz,
which ran north and south from the Rrunswick Landing on the
Raritan River, to Sussex County and the road to Pennsylvania.
part of the Landing =oad is followed by present-day Hillside Poa:d

and Pleasant Pill Road. The old road to Pennsylvania wound

L

throuah Chester along present-day Falrmount Avenuve and Zuds

\.

Avenue. In 1265, the road was straightened to the right-of-way

P



Chaster [listory

today's Main Street and Route 24 when the road was chartered

I=h

o

the Washington Turnnike.

J

1
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The oldest houses remaining in Chester stand aleng
these ancieont roadways, including the mid-18th century Lusz House
(113}, the kitchen wing of the Hedges-Thomnson House ($465), and
the Ming House (4247), Thegse were built as "Fast Jersey
Cottages'" a traditional Englishuéerived house form which is
characterized by a roughly scuare nlan, steepn gable roof, three-
bay facade with side door, and a high fascia area on the faca:
Such houses are typical for the 12th and aven =arly 12th centurv

develoument of northern and eastern New Jersey.

The opening of the Washington Turnpike brought a steady
stream of travelers through Chester, and snurred the Adevelosnmont
of taverns and inns. At least four taverns yere operating in the
area in 18¢8., In addition, two more were built.uithin the nox
twelve years (261, %222). The Federal oneriod saw a flourishing

of activity in Chester, reflected by such substantial buildiogs

as the 18212 Brick Hotel (now the Publick Mouse, #201), thz Corwi

3

llouse (now Larison's Turkey Tarm Inn (¥126), zand the He’qges-
Thompson House (#065) .*

, Chester itself was eztablizhed 35 a

Cy

nuring this oerio
separate political entity in 1799, In 19¢0, an Academy oY
nrivate school was opened at the head of Academy Lane (building

1

removed from the sits after 1829, later demolished). The Chester

*35th the Corwin House and the Brick Hotel were recorded by YARS
in the 1923@'s.




Chester History

bost Office was establisﬁed in 18%7, with the princiwval of the
Acadeny serving as rostmaster. A physician settled in town, a
cabinetmaker pli=d his trade in the villade. Chester's nrimarily
agricultural economy relied voon lumber, anclejack% srhiskevy,
cattle and sheep.

The cwening of the Morris TZanal in 1831, north of

Chester, .and the #Morris & %ssex Railroad in 1837, =ast of

=4

Thestar, left the community ouvtside the sphere of develonman

occuring elsewhere in the 2id 12th century. 1In s=ite of this,

(T

he years 1P20-1868 saw a measuvre of nrosperity, as r=ilected in
a number of Creek Nevival-style houses. Although very .auch a
vernacular interoretation of high-style Creek Revival, these
confortahle dewllings werz linke? to this ponular style through
the use of pedimented gables, pilastered and columned antries,
flush=-boarded siding, and doors with single or paired vertical
nanels. Several outstanding examnles survive in Chester, such as
the Seward l!louse (%A3%90), the John Drake House (#21°) tha 2dghorne
iouse (%6884), the Presbyterian Church (¥215) anc the
Congregational Church (#76%).

At the same time, the "I" house, a vernacular tyne
oricinating in the Pelawar=z Vallev regien hegan to annear in
Chester, supolanting the olcder, local Fast Jersey cottage as the
nrefsrred builﬂinq.form for simnle houses and common bhuildings.
It is unclear why the style was adopted, although the same roads

that ran west from Chester to Pennsylvania certainly could have

brought neople and ideas east. The tall, narrow "I" houses are



Chester History
concentrated on Main Street, the orincipal east-west road of the
1oth centurv. {fee #4291, 293, 295, 381, 3703.)

One of the attractions of "Black River" to earlw

settlers was the presence of easily mined and worked iron ore. A

Ll

forge at Hacklebarney (now in Chester Township) was establishs:
as early as the Revolutionary War, and other simole mines were
opened and operated on a small scale in the sarly 19th centwory.
It was-not until after the Civil ¥ar, however, that “hester's
largest iron ore Jdenosits were discovered. Coupled with the
arowlng ﬂemand for iron nationwide, Cheste;'s legandary izon boor

exploded in 1847.

y
l

i

o

i

Iron ore, lving close to the surface, was discovere

()]

a ridge running immediately north of Main Street. Another ridg

]

ran parallel to tﬁis farther north in the Borowugnh. Iron minas
were cvsned on nearly evéry farm, behind evefy store, and right
heside sachools and homes, with varying degress of success.
Larcer mines opened in th=2 Township, and the noise, dirt, and
slag "eans of this mining booms were apparently welcome:d as a
sign of progress.

The Chester Failroad was opsned on Janwvarv 2, 1362,° to
havl the ore to market. 2 secoend branch railroad beqaﬁ service
in 1873. In 1882, a railroad was laid directly through the
center of town, the tracks running immediately hahind the
commercial ceater of Main Street. Ore was mined by many small
short-lived companies, as well as by longer-lived and svccesstul

firms such as the Chester Ircn Comumany, which had backing fror

e
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Chestsr Rigtory
and connections to the larger New York-based Cooner-Hewiltt

Comnanv.

I";iners, man

L

7/ from England, Wales and Hungarv, came

rouring into Chester to work the mines. They boarded with

n

farmers, or lived in hoardinc houses and si=mnle frame tenemnent
eractad by the mining compranies (see "Patch Hous=s).

Fortunes were made and lost in iron. Mining was
narticularly sensitive to th2 condition of the American econcmy
as a whole., The mining business suffared and virtually closed
down with the Panic of 1873. 1t revived and flourished in the
early 1£80's, but by 1827, the outlook for mining in Chester was
dim. The following vear the furnace was shnut doﬁn, and miners
moved away, seeking work in other nlaces. The onening of the

great Mesabi Pange in Minnesota made the small, scattered mining

operations in Chester and much of New Jarsey obsolete andd

unorcfitable.

Chester's brief mining heyday is now hard to imagine

Few pnotogranhs of the town survive from tha nsriod,. T

in

railroads have bheen torn up, the mines filled in, and =any
mining-related structures are long gone. The 1387 2tlas of
tiorris County only begins to show the deansity of develon-ent of
the reriod, The quiet, rural village atmosphere of todav's
Chester is a far cry from its actual annearance a century ago.
Mucd streets, wooden sidewalks, saloons and a larqge single, malsa

mopulation made it much like our porular ivages of the "#ild

iest, Cne historian wrote:
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"In the early 1820's six mines were in opsration
within twenty feet of the (Main) street. Punzs

ran Zdav and nignt, and the water o2oured in a

flood across the street and into the little

broox near Manle Avenue. The ponulation of

Chester doubled.™*

In fact, the population of the cotnhined Chesters neaxed in 182%
at over 6,580, It fell off dramatically after that and 1id not
reach the same number again until 1944,

Although many of Main Street's commercial buildings are
simole, vernacular structures, they housed such divérse, nrban
activities asgs a roller.rink, mining company offices, an? a
brewery in the 188¢8's. The town was the_seene-of torchlight
rarades accenting Republicag Morris_Copntyfs only wholly
Democratic municipality.

+

A legacy of the mining era survives in sowme of the

41}
=
2

architecturs of Chester, especially in the densely built-uh ¥:
Street commercial area, and’the miper's houses of the tesic
area south of Main Street. Humerous Second-Fzaire Stvile
huildings such as the Collis House (#2€¢), the Hardin Store
(#2¢82), and the Hedges Pharmacy (§388) attest to the money that
made the latest architectural fashions nossible in the latter
187f's., The Italianate Styvle is also represénted in Chester in
the Congregational Chureh of 18255 (£862), and in several sodest
homes bhuilt in an "L" plan and featuring the characteristic
round-headed windows and ornamental front norches. (G2e 542,

~y
;

*Fdwin Collis, Chester's fesaui-Centennial Celebration, n. 7.




Chester History

3
i
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5

5, #213 as examples.) The grandest Italianate house of them

the cubical-form mansion of Taniel Tudd, was dewolisha:

9]
=
e

the 197¢'s for a shopping center.

After the mining boom had certifiably gone bust in the
1897's, the village entered the 20th century as a virtual ghost
town., Estimates of the number of unoccuonied builﬁiﬁgs variz?
from 35 to 297, Lack of monev and incentive led to a total
absence of buildinas in the Shingle Stvle and few Dueen 2nne
Style, popular architectural expressions of the turn-of-the-
century. The dernression continved into the early 19297's, 50 thorz
are no American foursguares, and only a handful of Tungalows to
mark the national development and popularization of those styles.
However, the Connover Cottace is an archetynical and well-
oreserved exasnle oI a Rungalow.

rfforts to revive Chester's economy centered arouné naw
manufacturing ventures. An embroidery factory ovened in Chester
Township; a handkerchief factory took over the threshing machine
factory on Main Street in the village (#287), it was later taken
over by an arch-support factory. Farmers also sup»nlemented their

incomes by taking in summer visitors.

Chester's rural countryside contiﬂued to he Efarmed,
with fields backed right up to the rear lots of houses on the
Main Street. Few outhuildings survive in the =orough, althcugh
an outstanding group remains behind the house at 17 Church Street

(£213) and a large baran stands just off Main Street (2293).

After World War II, the open, rollinag fields began to

10
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CThester Hintorwv

be transformed into housing develonments as suburoan growth 1In

]

the metropolitan Vew York area nushed farther out into 2xvraia,
Few recsidents wasre attracted by Chester's quiet country

atmosphere, The downtown, dormant for so long, was transformsz

if

in the 1978's tc a cluster of boutigues and snecialty store
which capitalize on the image of a guaint old town, and drawy
shoppers and tourists from a wide area.

Just outside the o0l2 village center lie new shoaning
centers and contemporary highway comrercial developnent with
businesses to =erve vesidents of bhoth Chester Rorough an-
Townshi o, More subdivisions and comﬂercial ﬂévelonﬂfwtz are

proposed each month, although at rnresent a working farm remains

W

o2

[
<1

within the Borough (%#¢¢19), and & largs narcel of onan 352

)

pe
i

‘retained as the Rell Tabs outdoor telephone testing facility (se:

i
Vi

aten

1]

0

G911, Historic huildings in the villag§ center . are thy
hy intensified use, spiraling rents, and misguided renovations,

which transform the image of the town into so%ething it never
was. Simultancovusly, business interests try to merchandisse t

Borocugh as "Historic.," The délicate halance bestwszen nreservation

and development, contrel and stagnation of business, and the neead

n

ul

=2t

bR o

=
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or resiftential and commercial davelonment, nrasonis

issues which at present are hotly debated by town governing

hodias

S

. This survey 1s one stepn in racognizing and recordine the

historic and architectural riches of Thestar to helwn guide future

decision~naking regarding the built envireonment in the Rorouzh.
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Strect Develepment in Chester

18th Cenktury

flillside/Pleasant Hill Toais,

Lancding Road: nt
Cladstone Road.

r

—
(L u)

C;

0w

")
o
mopad to Pennsylvania: Portiorns of present Fairmount

Avenue, Budd Avenue, Main Street.

l9th Century

13@% - Academy Lane
1376 - Washington Turnoike: nresent Main Street/Poute 24,

Before

o
T N

(TN

1
Q

¥

dale Roan
= ¥Morth Rcad
- wWilliamson lane

b
’

w
D b
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Petween 1853 and 1863
1267 - Church Street
- TZherry Street
- Ope block of Crove &t
Main and =Budd south t
- Maple Avenue
- Perry Street
- New Street, one block between Main Strest and ‘fanle
2venue, now part of Seminary 2venue.

farkl
-r
-

, from interssction w
herry Street.

=
i

r
(0]

Fetween 1858 and 1887:
- Crove Street extended to present leangth, to Fairrount

Avenue. ;
- Fairmount Avenue extended frem Tudd Avenue ke lew
Street.
- Yayw Street (now Seminary Avenue) extenceld to present
length.
- Crange Street,
20th Century
1229 - Route 31, ncw PRoute 296,
1940's - vedges Lane, Ridge Poad, Wheeler Roasd, “elwilie

Road .

19608's - Melrose Drive, Cathy Court, 218 Forge Road,
Ferrous Court, Valley Viasw Drive, ~frchar? Tang,
Collis Lane.

1970's - Sceward Place, Larch PRrive, Village Poad, 2ss2n
Drive.
198@'s =~ Elm Street, (Qak Street,

12
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F. Robinson, Publisher,; 1887,

Modern tonogravhic and tax mans w=2re also consulted - see
base maps and detail.
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Roundaries

Beginning in the centerline of Main Street (N.J; Route 24)
at the point where it intersects the centerline of Seminary
Avenue, and running in a southerly direction along the centerline
of Seminary Avenuve to thé SW corner of Lot 19, Block 13;

thence, &n an easterly direction, running along the rear lot
lines of the following lots in Block 13; 19, 5-1, 20, 4 and 3, to
the centerline of QGrove Street:

thence, in a souvtherly direction, along the centerline
of Grove Street to the point at which it intersects the
centerline of Orange Streetf |

thence, in an easterly direction, along the éenterline of
Orange Street to the_point at which it intersects with an
extension of the easterly lot line of Lot 1-1, Block 9;

thence, in a southerly direction, along said easterly lot
line to the SE corner of Lot 1-1, Bleck 9;

- thence, in an easterly direction, along the southerly
1qt 1ines of Lots 1 and 1-6, Block 9, to the centerline of Budd
Avenue;

thence, in a sovwtheasterly direction, along the
centerline of Budd Avenue to the point of its intersection-with
the centerline of Fairmount Avenue;

thence, in an easterly direction, along the centerline
of Fairmount Avenue to the point of its intersection with the

centerline of Aspen Drive;
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Proposed Chester Borough Historic District

thence, in northerly and westerly directions, along
the easterly lot lines of Lot 5, Block 8, to the SW corner
of Lot 6, Block 8;

thence, in an easterly direction, along the southerly
lot line of Lot 6, Block 8, to the SE corner of said lot;

then, in a northerly direction, along the easterly lot
line of Lot 6, Block 8 to the centerline of Main Street (N.J.
Route 24);

thence, in an easterly direction, along said centerline
to the point of its intersection with a line extended from the
easterly lot line of Lot 33, Block 4;

thence, in a northerly direction, to the NW corner of Lot
32, Block 4;

thence, in a westerly direction, along a line extended
through the northerly lot lines of Lots 34, 35 and 36, Block 4,
to the NW corner of Lot 40, Block 4;

thence, in a soutﬁerly direction, along the westerly
lot line of Lot 40, Block 4, to the NW corner of Lot 41, Block 4:

thence, in a westerly direction, along a line extended
through the northerly lot lines of Lots 45 and 46, Block 4, to
the centerline of Collis Lane;

thence, in a northerly direction, along the centerline
of Collis Avenue to the point at which it intersects with a line
extended from the northerly lot linme of Lot 16, Block 4;

thence, inra westerly and souvthwesterly direction,

along the northerly lot lines of Lots 16, 15 and 12, Block 4, to
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the SE corner of Lot 9, Block 4;

thence, in a northerly direction, along the easterly
lot lines of Lots 9 and 8, Block 4, to the NE corner of Lot 8,
Block 4;

thence, in a westerly direction, along the northerly
lot line of Lot 8, Block 4, to the SE eorner of Lot 6, Block 4;

thence, in a noiﬁherly direction, along Ene_easterly
lot lines of Lots 6, 5 and 3-5, Block 4, (and including that part
of Lot 3 lying between Lots 5 and 3-5), tothe NE corner of Lot 3~
5, Block 4; |

thence, in a westerly dlrectlon, along the northerly
lot line of Lot 3-5, Block 4, to the enterllne of H11151de Road--

thence, in a southerly dlrectlon, along the centerllne
of Hlllslde Road to the p01nt of 1ts 1ntersect1qn with the
centerline of Hedges Road; . R |

thence, %n a nesﬁerly.direcﬁien, along the:Centerline
of Hedges Road to the point of its intersection.wiﬁh a 1ine
extended from the wester..ly lot line of Lot 21, Block 21;

thence, in a eoutherly direction, along the westerly
lot line of Lot 21, Block 21, to its SW corner;

thence, in an easterly direction, along the southe%ly
lot line of Lot 21, Block 20, to the NW corner of Lot 23, Block
29;

thence, in a southerly direction, along the westerly
lot line of Lot 23, Block 24, to the NE corner of Lot 28, Block

29;
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Proposed Chester Historic District

thence, in a westerly direction, along the northerly
lot line of said Lot 28 to its NW corner;

thence, in a southerly direction, to the northerly
lot line of Lot 29, Block 20;

thence, in a westerly direction, along a line extended
from the northerly lot line of Lot 29,Block 20, tothe NW corner of
Lot 36, Block 20;

thence, in a southerly direction, to the NE corner
of Lot 37, Block 20;

thence, in a westerly direction, along a line extended
from the northerly lot line of Lot 37, Block 28, to the westerly
lot line of Lot 45, Block 20;

thence, in a southerly direction, to the NE corner of
Lo£ 46, -Block 28;

thence, in a westerly direction, to the NW éorner of

Lot 46, Block 20;

thence, in a southerly direction, along the westerly
lot line of Lot 46, Block 20, to the centerline of Main Street

(N.J. Route 24);

and finally, in a westerly direction along said

centrline to the point of Beginning.

18

=



CHESTER BORCUGH, MORRIS COUNTY, N.J. Invenlory #1566

BEXPLANATION OF ELIGIBILITY CODE

NR: National Register of Historic Places is the olfficial list
of America"s cullural resources, The National Hislorie
Prescrvation Act of 1966 (Stal.915, as amended)established a
State/Federal parinership in historic preservation. The State
and National Registers provide”a degrec of protection from
public encroactuiehii, . Ll&tlnf on the National Register also

provides EILgLULLLLy ful Fedelal tTax benexlhb.

All buildings with NR eliﬁibility (coded-R—NR, E-NR,F-NR, D-NR, T-NR)
and those codbd "L" for "local slgnlflcance and those coded "#"

for "Ches Ter ‘Historical Soc1ety recommended as locully JMPOLUGML
snould. be con81dexbd fur protact¢on by eudctmenu of 1ocal

'pleoerthlon 5uldellnes ._ﬁf
STREET.INDEX _CODE;
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